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May 7, 2018

Ryan Zinke, Secretary

U.S. Department of the Interior

1840 C Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20240

secretary_of the_interior@ios.doi.gov

James Kurth, Deputy Director for Operations
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service

Department of the Interior

1849 C Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20240
Jim_Kurth@fws.gov

Sent VIA Certified and Electronic Mail

Re:  Notice of Violations of the Endangered Species Act in Relation to the Withdrawal of
the Proposed Rule to List a Distinct Population Segment of the Roundtail Chub
from the Lower Colorado River Basin

Dear Secretary Zinke and Deputy Director of Operations Jim Kurth:

The Center for Biological Diversity (“the Center”) hereby provides notice pursuant to, and to the
extent required by, Section 11(g) of the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g),
of the Center’s intent to challenge the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service’s (“FWS”) withdrawal of a
proposed rule to protect the roundtail chub in the lower Colorado River basin as a “threatened”
species under the ESA. See U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Threatened Species Status for the
Headwater Chub and Roundtail Chub Distinct Population Segment, Proposed Rule; Withdrawal
82 Fed. Reg. 16981 (Apr. 7, 2017) (“Withdrawal”). The Withdrawal violates Section 4 of the
ESA. 16 U.S.C. § 1533.

In withdrawing the proposed rule, FWS did not conclude that any of the many threats to these
native fish have abated. Instead, FWS relied on a determination by the American Fisheries
Society that the lower Colorado River basin population of roundtail chub, the headwater chub,
and the previously listed Gila chub are not separate and distinct species, but rather constitute one
single species—the roundtail chub.! Based solely on this determination, FWS concluded that the
headwater chub and lower Colorado River basin population of roundtail chub do not meet the

! Copus, et al., Report to the Joint ASIH-AFS Committee on Names of Fishes, Revision of the
Gila robusta (Teleostei, Cyprinidae) Species Complex: Morphological Examination and
Molecular Phylogenetics Reveal a Single Species (Aug., 2016).
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definition of a species under the ESA.? In so doing, FWS never determined whether the
combined lower Colorado River basin distinct population segment (DPS) of roundtail chub
should be listed as a threatened or endangered species despite the fact that our petition
specifically sought listing of this population, the Service found it to be warranted, and it is still a
recognized and listable entity.® This failure is clearly arbitrary and capricious and a violation of
the language and purpose of the ESA.

Unless these violations are corrected within 60 days, we intend to seek relief pursuant to the
ESA’s citizen-suit provision. The record will show that the Secretary and FWS refused to
determine, based on the best available science, whether the lower Colorado River basin DPS of
the roundtail chub is a threatened or endangered species under the ESA.* Contrary to FWS’s
conclusion, there is more than sufficient evidence to warrant the protection of this fish species
under the ESA from the many ongoing threats to its existence.’

I. Background

Roundtail chub are large minnows with slender, silver bodies and forked tail fins. But like most
of the endemic fish fauna of the Colorado River basin, roundtail chub have been decimated by a
century of habitat degradation and non-native fish introductions. The lower Colorado River basin
population of roundtail chub has been particularly hard hit and now occupies only a small
fraction of its historic range.®

In 1998, the Center petitioned to list a relative of the roundtail chub, the Gila chub, as
endangered under the ESA.” Following several court cases, FWS finally listed the Gila chub as
endangered and designated critical habitat for that species after finding that it is “eliminated from
85 to 90 percent of formerly occupied habitat” from “the introduction and spread of nonnative
aquatic species ... and habitat loss and degradation.. 8

In 2003, the Center petitioned to list the lower Colorado River basin DPS of roundtail chub and
the headwater chub as threatened or endangered species.’ The Center’s petition demonstrated the

2 82 Fed. Reg. 16,981-82.

*1d. at 16,985-86.

416 U.S.C. § 1533(a)(1), (b)(1)(A).

> Id. § 1533(b)(6)(B)(ii).

® U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Threatened Species Status for the Headwater Chub and a
Distinct Population Segment of the Roundtail Chub; Proposed Rule, 80 Fed. Reg. 60,754, 60,761
(Oct. 7, 2015) (“Proposed Rule”).

’ Southwest Center for Biological Diversity, Petition to List the Gila Chub as an Endangered
Species Under the U.S. Endangered Species Act of 1973 (June 4, 1998).

8 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Listing Gila Chub as Endangered with Critical Habitat, 70 Fed.
Reg. 66,664, 66,679 (Nov. 2, 2005).

® Center for Biological Diversity, Petition to List the Roundtail and Headwater Chubs (Gila
robusta and nigra) as Endangered Species in the Lower Colorado River Basin (Apr. 2, 2003).



two fish have experienced severe declines from “habitat loss and degradation related to livestock
grazing, dams, diversions, groundwater pumping, mining, recreation, and human population
growth, competition and predation from non-native fish, and inadequate existing laws and
regulations.”™ In response to the Center’s petition, in a 2005 finding, FWS determined that
listing “may be warranted.”*

After a status review, FWS determined that listing the headwater chub was “warranted,” but that
a similar status for a lower Colorado River basin DPS of the roundtail chub was not.** The
Center successfully challenged this finding in 2006 and, in 2009, FWS issued a new finding that
listing the lower Colorado River basin population of roundtail chub was “warranted but
precluded.” In reaching its conclusion, FWS determined that the lower Colorado River
population of roundtail chub was threatened primarily by habitat loss and nonnative species, that
it constituted a DPS, and that, therefore, the population was a “listable entity”” under the ESA.**

In September of 2015, after conducting another status assessment of the headwater and lower
Colorado River basin DPS of roundtail chub, FWS proposed to list both species as threatened.™
In the Proposed Rule, FWS determined that:

.. . headwater chub and lower Colorado River basin roundtail chub DPS meet the
definition of threatened species primarily because of the present or threatened
destruction of their habitat or range and other natural or manmade factors
resulting mainly from impacts from nonnative aquatic species, reduction habitat
(i.e., water availability), and climate change.™

1d. at 2,
1 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 90-Day Finding on a Petition To List a Distinct Population
Segment of the Roundtail Chub in the Lower Colorado River Basin and To List the Headwater
Chub as Endangered or Threatened With Critical Habitat, 70 Fed. Reg. 39,981 (July 12, 2005).
12 u.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 12-Month Finding on a Petition to List a Distinct Population
Segment of the Roundtail Chub in the Lower Colorado River Basin and to List the Headwater
Chub as Endangered or Threatened with Critical Habitat, 71 Fed. Reg. 26,007 (May 3, 2006).
3 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Initiation of Status Review for the Roundtail Chub (Gila
robusta) in the Lower Colorado River Basin, 74 Fed. Reg. 9,205 (March 3, 2009); U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service, 12-Month Finding on a Petition to List a Distinct Population Segment of the
Roundtail Chub (Gila robusta) in the Lower Colorado River Basin, 74 Fed. Reg. 32,352 (July 7,
2009).
"1d. at 32,355.
i‘z Proposed Rule, 80 Fed. Reg. 60,754.

Id.



FWS also reaffirmed that the lower Colorado River basin population of roundtail chub
constitutes a DPS.*" Specifically, FWS determined that “[t]he lower Colorado River basin
roundtail chub population segment meets the element of discreteness because it was separate
historically, and continues to be markedly separate today.”*® FWS found that “[t]he lower
Colorado River basin population of the roundtail chub is ... significant to the species as a whole
because the loss of this population would create a significant gap in the range and the population
demonstrates a marked difference in genetic characteristics.”* Therefore, “Ib]ecause this
population segment meets both the “discreteness” and “significance” elements of [FWS’s] DPS
policy, the lower Colorado River population segment of the roundtail chub qualifies as a DPS ...
and, as such, is a listable entity under the ESA.”* FWS then concluded that this entity is
threatened and at risk of extinction in the foreseeable future.*

However, rather than codify this determination as a final rule that would finally afford the ESA’s
substantial legal protections to this imperiled species, FWS reopened the comment period for the
Proposed Rule, and asked for comments from the public regarding the “taxonomic distinctness”
of the headwater and roundtail chubs.? In response, the Center requested that if FWS no longer
recognized the species as distinct that FWS still provide a determination as to whether listing the
roundtail chub in the lower Colorado River basin as a threatened or endangered DPS is
warranted, “as FWS has already recognized the species as being distinct in the lower and upper
basins and it faces threats such that it warrants listing as a threatened or endangered species.”?

On April 7, 2017, FWS withdrew the Proposed Rule, claiming that “the headwater chub and the
roundtail chub DPS are not discrete taxonomic entities and do not meet the definition of a
species under the ESA.”?* Relying solely on the American Fisheries Society’s determination that
the lower Colorado River basin population of the roundtail chub, headwater chub, and Gila chub
are not separate and distinct species, FWS asserted that because the headwater chub and the
roundtail chub DPS are now recognized as part of a single taxonomic species, the roundtail chub,
“the entities previously proposed for listing are no longer recognized as species, as defined by
the Act,” and therefore, “are not listable entities.”%

7 1d. at 60,757; see also 12-Month Finding on a Petition to List a Distinct Population Segment of
the Roundtail Chub (Gila robusta) in the Lower Colorado River Basin, 74 Fed. Reg. at 32,355,
32,382.

'8 proposed Rule, 80 Fed. Reg. at 60,758.

1d. at 60,759.

2d.

*L 1d. at 60,775, 60,778-79.

22 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 6-Month Extension of Final Determination for the proposed
Listing of the Headwater Chub and Distinct Population Segment of the Roundtail Chub as
Threatened Species, 81 Fed. Reg. 54,018-19 (August 15, 2016).

2% Center for Biological Diversity, RE: Comments on listing of the roundtail and headwater
chubs (Gila robusta and G. nigra) under the Endangered Species Act, 1 (Dec. 12, 2016).

2482 Fed. Reg. at 16,981-82.

% 1d. at 16,987.



However, the lower Colorado River basin roundtail chub DPS remains a listable entity, one that
the Center both petitioned to be listed and specifically requested FWS to consider during the
comment period on the taxonomy issue, and one whose discreteness and significance has been
recognized by FWS repeatedly. The American Fisheries Society report does not call these well-
accepted facts into question. The only thing that has changed is the fishes’ taxonomy. The
population of roundtail chub in the lower Colorado River simply now includes the fish formerly
thought to be the headwater chub and Gila chub. This, in no way, undermines the population’s
qualification as a DPS or the many threats to its existence.?®

When withdrawing the Proposed Rule, FWS did not address “comments from both the public
and peer reviewers concerning threats to these fish,” or comments requesting that FWS list the
lower Colorado River basin roundtail chub DPS as threatened.?” Rather, FWS stated only that it
“intend[s] to reevaluate the status of the Gila chub (currently listed as endangered) in the near
future and initiate a range-wide species status assessment (SSA) of the newly recognized
roundtail chub (Gila robusta).”?® This assessment has yet to be initiated and implies that it will
evaluate roundtail chub rangewide, rather than in the lower Colorado River Basin as requested in
the Center’s original petition and in comments. While the agency drags its feet, this imperiled
population—which is critical to the species’ survival—remains unprotected.

Il.  Statutory Framework

The ESA requires FWS to “determine whether any species is an endangered species or a
threatened species because of any of the following factors:

(A) the present or threatened destruction, modification, or curtailment of its
habitat or range;
(B) overutilization for commercial, recreational, scientific, or educational
purposes;
(C) disease or predation;
(D) the inadequacy of existing regulatory mechanisms; or
(E) other natural or manmade factors affecting its continued existence.?
A “species” “includes any subspecies of fish or wildlife or plants, and any distinct population
segment of any species of vertebrate fish or wildlife which interbreeds when mature.” Listing

26 |d. at 16, 986. In withdrawing the proposed rule, FWS relied on the definition of species at 16
U.S.C. 8§ 1532(16), 50 C.F.R. § 424.02, and the Service Director’s November 25, 1992,
‘‘Taxonomy and the Endangered Species Act’” Memorandum.

*"1d. at 16,984-85.

?81d. at 16,987.

916 U.S.C. § 1533(a)(1), (b)(1)(A).

%0 |d. § 1532(16).



determinations must be made based “solely on the basis of the best scientific and commercial
data available.”®

After receiving a petition “to add a species t0,” the endangered species list, FWS “shall make a
finding as to whether the petition presents substantial scientific or commercial information
indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted.”* “If such a petition is found to present
such information, [FWS] shall promptly commence a review of the status of the species
concerned[,]” and promptly publish its findings.** Within 12 months of receiving the position,
FWS shall find that “[t]he petitioned action is not warranted,” that “the petitioned action is
warranted,” or that “[t]he petitioned action is warranted, but ... is precluded by pending
proposals to determine whether any species is an endangered species or threatened species,” and
“expeditious progress is being made to add qualified species to” the list.**

If the petitioned action is warranted, FWS must “promptly publish in the Federal Register a
general notice and the complete text of a proposed regulation to implement such action....”* The
agency must then, 90 days before the effective date of the regulation, “publish a general notice
and the complete text of the proposed regulation in the Federal Register.”*® Within one year of
the date of notice publication, FWS must take one of several potential actions, including
providing “notice that such one-year period is being extended ... for no more than six months for
the purposes of soliciting additional data ... [regarding a] substantial disagreement regarding the
sufficiency or accuracy of the available data relevant to the determination or revision
concerned.”® If the one year period is extended, and FWS decides to withdraw the regulation,
FWS must “publish in the Federal Register ... notice of withdrawal of the regulation under
clause (ii), together with the finding on which the withdrawal is based.”*® Such a finding must be
made based on a finding that “there is not sufficient evidence to justify the action proposed by
the regulation[,]” and is judicially reviewable.*°

1. FWS’s Withdrawal of the Proposed Rule to List a Distinct Population Segment of
the Roundtail Chub from the Lower Colorado River Basin Violates Section 4 of the
ESA

FWS’s Withdrawal ignored whether the lower Colorado River population of roundtail chub
constitutes a threatened DPS—as the Center petitioned—pursuant to Section 4’s listing factors,
the best available science, and FWS’s own prior findings. FWS also failed to base the

31 1d. § 1533(b)(1)(A).

%2 1d. § 1533(b)(3)(A).

% d.

1d. § 1533(b)(3)(B).

% |d. § 1533(b)(3)(B)(ii).

% 1d. § 1533(b)(5)(A)(i).

37 1d. §1533(h)(6)(A)(i)(111), (6)(B)(i).
%8 |d. § 1533(6)(B)(iii).

% 1d. § 1533(6)(B)(ii).



Withdrawal on a finding that there was insufficient evidence to justify the Proposed Rule’s
determination that the lower Colorado River basin DPS of the roundtail chub is threatened. As
such, the Withdrawal violated Section 4 of the ESA.

FWS’s withdrawal of the Proposed Rule was based solely on the conclusion that “no
morphological or genetic data define the population of Gila in the lower Colorado River basin ...
as members of more than one species ... the roundtail chub, Gila robusta,” and that, therefore,
the “the entities previously proposed for listing are no longer recognized as species, as defined
by the Act.” *° In doing so, FWS ignored the ESA’s definition of “species,” which includes “any
distinct population segment of any species of vertebrate fish or wildlife which interbreeds when
mature,” and further arbitrarily ignored the Center’s comments requesting that FWS list the
roundtail chub as a single distinct population segment in the lower Colorado River basin, even if
the Gila chub, headwater chub, and roundtail chub were not taxonomically discrete.**

There can be no question that roundtail chub in the lower Colorado River basin qualifies as a
DPS, even after reclassification, because FWS previously found the lower Colorado River
population of roundtail chub to be discrete and significant. Combining the roundtail chub,
headwater chub, and Gila chub into one species only reinforces the newly classified population’s
significance while not undermining its discreteness.*? As such, it still qualifies as a DPS, still
meets the ESA’s definition of “species,” is still a listable entity, and a petitioned species by the
Center still awaiting a determination by FWS.

The ESA permits FWS to withdraw a proposed rule if FWS finds that there is “not sufficient
evidence” to justify a proposed listing determination.*® Yet, in the Withdrawal, FWS did not
refute, distinguish, or even address its own prior determination that the lower Colorado basin
DPS of roundtail chub is threatened by

%082 Fed. Reg. at 16,982, 16,987 (emphasis added);

116 U.S.C. § 1532(16) (emphasis added). It also ignored its own guidance which states that
FWS may “broaden (but not lessen) the [agency’s] scope of review” when responding to a
petition.

“2 See 80 Fed. Reg. at 60,757-59. FWS’s original DPS finding was not undermined by the
determination that the Gila chub, roundtail chub, and headwater chub constitute one species
since the Societies’ finding was based only on populations of Gila in the lower Colorado River
basin. 82 Fed. Reg. at 16,982. Neither does the study, on which the withdrawal relies, question
the distinction between upper and lower Colorado River basin roundtail chub. See generally
COPUS ET AL., REVISION OF THE GILA ROBUSTA (TELEOSTEI, CYPRINIDAE) SPECIES COMPLEX:
MORPHOLOGICAL EXAMINATION AND MOLECULAR PHYLOGENETICS REVEAL A SINGLE SPECIES,
REPORT TO THE JOINT ASIH-AFS COMMITTEE ON NAMES OF FISHES (2016). See also Center for
Biological Diversity, RE: Comments on listing of the roundtail and headwater chubs (Gila
robusta and G. nigra) under the Endangered Species Act, 4-5 (Dec. 12, 2016).

316 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(B)(ii).








